IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM F. SILVIA,)	
Appellant,)))	
VS.)	CASE NO. SC09-220
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
Appellee.)))	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The original record on appeal comprises nineteen consecutively numbered volumes. The pages of the first four volumes are numbered consecutively from 1 to 608. Volume five begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page 1 to 2571 which concludes volume nineteen. Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using the appropriate Roman numeral to designate the volume number followed the appropriate Arabic number referring to the appropriate pages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

William F. Silvia, Jr. hereinafter referred to as appellant, was indicted by
Grand Jury with Murder in the First Degree and Attempted First Degree Murder. (I
4) The state filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Penalty of Death. (I 37) The

appellant filed a Motion for Findings of Fact and a Motion For a Statement of Particulars as to Aggravating Circumstances and to Dismiss Indictment for Lack of Notice as to Aggravating Circumstances. (I 43, 46) The trial court denied these motions. (I 169) The appellant filed nine pretrial motions challenging the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty scheme. The trial court denied these Motions. Upon court order the state disclosed that it intended to rely upon three aggravating circumstances.

The case proceeded to trial. The appellant requested that the standard jury instructions be modified to reflect the current law. (V 12) The trial court reserved ruling. (V 32) During trial, the appellant moved for a mistrial. (XIII 1720) Sgt. Hardesty testified that the appellant was transported to the sheriff's office for an

¹ Fact Finding by Judge, Non-unanimous Jury Recommendation, Violates *Ring v. Arizona* I 38; Victim Impact Evidence I 49; Heinous, Atrocious and Cruel Aggravating Factor Improper I 57, I 99; Death Penalty Presumed Punishment I 69; Failure to Provide Adequate Guidance to the Jury I 86; Bare Majority of Jurors is Sufficient to Recommend Death Sentence I 97; Jury Advisory Sentence I 101; Felony Murder Aggravator Improper I 103; Prior Violent Felony Aggravator Improper I 105; Cruel & Unusual Punishment, Bare Majority of Jurors I 107.

² I 157.

³ The defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person; The defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons; and The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (I 185)

interview. (XIII 1720) Appellant argued that Sgt. Hardesty's testimony is a comment on the appellant's right to remain silent, since the jury was informed that the appellant was given an opportunity to make a statement to Seminole County Sheriff's Office. (XIII 1720) The trial court denied the motion for mistrial. (XIII 1721)

The State rests. (XIII 1737) The Appellant rests. (XIII 1737) During closing argument, the state argued that Patrick Woodard shut the door to the carport to prevent being shot by the appellant, and further stated: "And he – if he didn't close that door, I submit to you he would have taken some buckshot." (XIV 1832) The appellant objected several times to this argument on the grounds that it was a misstatement of the evidence. (XIV 1832) The trial court overruled the objections stating "Allow the jury to rely upon their memory." (XIV 1832) The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged to both counts. (XIV 1872)

PENALTY PHASE

The appellant objected to the state seeking the CCP⁴ aggravating factor. (XV 1885) The trial court overruled the appellant's objection. (XV 1891) The appellant and state agreed to some redactions to the victim impact statements, and the appellant renewed his general objection to victim impact evidence. (XV 1951) The

⁴ The Capital Felony was committed in a Cold, Calculated and

state rests. (XV 1974) The defense rests. (XVI 2120)

On the MMPI-2⁵ the appellant scored highest on the psychotic deviancy scale. (XVI 2132) When asked to explain psychopathic deviancy, Dr. Danzinger stated in part: "Someone who does not respect authority, the ends justify the means and a lack of remorse." (XVI 2134) The appellant objected to Dr. Danzinger's testimony concerning appellant's lack of remorse, and moved for a mistrial. (XVI 2134) The trial court denied the motion for mistrial on the grounds that Dr. Danzinger was describing the general characteristics of psychopathic deviancy. (XVI 2136) As a curative measure, the trial court directed the state to have Dr. Danzinger clarify that not all general characteristics of psychopathic deviancy apply to the appellant. (XVI 2136) Dr. Danzinger again testified that the appellant lacked remorse. (XVI 2207) Upon appellant's request, the trial court ordered that the testimony concerning lack of remorse be stricken and the jury be instructed to disregard the testimony. (XVI 2209)

The trial court raised the issue of whether the evidence supported the jury being instructed on the knowingly created a risk of death to many persons aggravating factor. (XVI 2242) The appellant argued that the evidence was not sufficient and at best contradictory on the issue. (XVI 2244) The state argued that

Premeditated Manner.

whether there was sufficient evidence to support this aggravating factor was a jury question, and the trial court agreed. (XVI 2244) The jury returned an advisory sentence of death by a vote of 11-1. (XVI 2404)

The trial court issued a Sentencing Order and found that there were three (3) aggravating factors. (III 566-577) The trial court found that there was mitigation. (III 577-583) The trial court found that the appellant was emotionally distressed by the loss of his job, home and marriage. (III 579) The trial court further found that the capacity of the appellant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was impaired. (III 580) The trial court assigned little and moderate weight to these mitigating factors. (III 579, 580) The trial court found some other non-statutory mitigation, and gave it moderate weight. (III 580-582) The trial court found that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating circumstances. (III 583) The trial court sentenced the appellant to death as to Count I and life imprisonment as to Count II. (III 583) The Office of the Public Defender was appointed. (III 588) This appeal follows.

⁵ The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory Scale, Second Edition

⁶ The Defendant was Previously Convicted of Another Capital Felony or a Felony Involving Violence; The Defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons; and The Capital Felony was a homicide and was committed in a Cold, Calculated and Premeditated Manner.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The appellant's estranged wife Patricia Silvia, had separated from the appellant in July 2006. (X 1057) Patricia Silvia, with her minor children from her first marriage, Rachel Sadron and Ross Sadron, lived with her mother Betty Woodard, her sister Robin MacIntre and her step-father Patrick Woodard in a home in Winter Park, Florida. (X 1056, 57) The appellant and Patricia Silvia were married in 2002. (X 1058)

On September 22, 2006 the Woodards had friends over to the house visiting. (X 1063) The appellant appeared at the house and came to the end of the carport. (X 1064) The appellant motioned for Patricia Silvia to come over and talk to him. (X 1064) The two spoke five to ten seconds and Patricia Silvia then returned back to the house. (X 1064) Patricia Silvia went inside the house and Betty Woodard followed her inside. (X 1065) Patricia Silvia was getting ice tea out of the refrigerator when Woodard heard what she thought was a sound of fire crackers. (X 1065) Woodard told her husband that the appellant was outside and she walked past her daughter and asked if she was okay. (X 1065) Betty Woodard then opened the door and was shot. (X 1065)

Jerome Woodard was visiting the Woodards home at the time of the

shooting. (X 1106) Jerome Woodard was in the vicinity of the carport when the appellant arrived to the house. (X 1112) Jerome Woodard observed Patricia Silvia and the appellant talking outside of the carport. (X 1110) According to Rachel Sadron, Patricia Silvia and the appellant spoke for a few minutes, and as Patricia Silvia walked back to the carport the appellant stated that "she would be sorry." (X 1112; X 1157) The appellant proceeded to go back to his truck at the end of the road. (X 1112)

Jerome Woodward then observed the appellant walking up towards the house, and the appellant fired two shotgun shots and Woodard jumped to the ground between the vehicles parked in the carport. (X 1113, 1114) The appellant was approximately thirty (30) feet from the carport when he fired the first shot, and approximately twenty (20) feet from the carport when he fired the second shot. (X 1124) Woodard heard a total of seven shots fired. (X 1118) Jerome Woodward could only confirm the presence of Betty Woodward in the vicinity of the carport when the shooting started. (X 1119) The appellant fired the first shot up into the air. (X 1124) Woodard never observed the appellant shooting the shotgun toward the carport. (X 1128)

Ross Sadron, Patricia Silvia's son, was in the Woodward home when he heard gunshots. (X 1138) Sadron ran towards the door to check on everyone. (X

1138) The door to the carport was open and there was smoke everywhere. (X 1138) Sadron was looking for his sister and standing near his mother when he fell to the ground. (X 1139) As Sadron got up, a shot at the door hit Sadron's mother and she fell in front of him. (X 1139) Sadron continued to look for his sister, and then Beth Parker took him to a bathroom with his sister and Aunt Robin. (X 1140)

Rachel Sadron heard gunshots. (X 1158) While Sadron got up to get her brother, the appellant pointed a gun at her from the end of the carport. (X 1158; 1160) Sadron was suddenly pushed to the ground by her mother and then she crawled inside the house to get to her brother. (X 1159) Sadron was taken into the bathroom by Beth Parker. (X 1159) Sadron saw the front door of the house shut and her grandfather kneeling down. (X 1161) Sadron's mother Patricia Sylvia was collapsed in front of the refrigerator. (X 1161) Sadron continued to hear gunshots when she saw her grandfather by the door. (X 1161) Sadron then saw her grandmother in the carport holding her eye. (X 1162)

⁷ Rachel Sadron's testimony is in direct conflict with the testimony of Betty Woodward, Jerome Woodward and Ross Sadron. Sadron claims that Betty Woodward and Patricia Sylvia were outside the house when the appellant approached Sadron and pointed the gun at her from a foot away in the carport. (X 1172) Patricia Sylvia then pushed Rachel Sadron aside and she fell to the ground and crawled into the house to find her brother. (X 1173) Rachel Sadron then found her brother Ross Sadron in the living room watching a wrestling program. (X 1174) Rachel Sadron stated that her brother Ross Sadron was with her when Patricia Sylvia was shot in the kitchen. (X 1174)

Patrick Woodard was in the bedroom at the time of the shooting. (X 1185) Just prior to the shooting, Betty Woodard came into the bedroom and asked Patrick Woodard to come outside because the appellant was there. (X 1187) Woodward stayed in the bedroom for another minute, and then heard gun shots. (X 1187) Woodward came out of the bedroom and saw Patricia Sylvia laying in front of the refrigerator. (X 1188) Woodward then saw his wife lying on the floor outside the kitchen door. (X 1192) Woodward then saw the appellant standing at the end of the carport looking at Woodward holding the twelve gauge shot gun. (X 1193) The appellant pointed the shotgun at Woodward and pumped the shotgun. (X 1196) Woodward then shut the door. (X 1197) Woodward did not hear any further shots after he closed the door. (XI 1207) The door from the kitchen towards the carport had damage from both birdshot and double aughth buckshot. (XI 1198)

Sgt. Greg Fox of the Maitland Police Department received a BOLO for the appellant and the appellant's vehicle on the evening of September 22, 2006. (XI 1249) Sgt. Fox saw the appellant traveling northbound on state road 17-92 and followed him. (XI 1251) Sgt. Fox stopped the appellant in a hotel parking lot. (XI 1253) Sgt. Fox believed that the appellant was intoxicated because of his driving pattern, and the appellant appeared "kinda out of it" with glassy eyes and laughing

which seemed an odd thing at the time. (XI 1256)

Law enforcement obtained a search warrant of the appellant's hotel room at the Regency Inn. (XI 1271) Law enforcement found a Moss Berg 500 12 gauge shotgun in the hotel room. (XI 1274)

There were three fired shotguns shells and one unfired shotgun shell in the roadway in front of the townhouse. (XI 1351) There was a fired shotgun shell in the grass, in the middle of the two driveways in the middle of the duplex. (XI 1351) There were three fired shotgun shells in the driveway to the west or the left of the Ford Contour. (XI 1351) There were multiple areas of impact from the shotgun shell pellets. (XI 1352) There was one impact site on the Ford Contour. (XI 1352) There were two impact sites on the exterior of the carport door and another impact site on a post located on the carport. (XI 1352)

In the afternoon of September 22, 2006 the appellant came to a gun shop called Shoot Straight. (XII 1493) At approximately 3:30 in the afternoon the appellant purchased a Mossberg Persuader shotgun. (XII 1494)

Dr. Valeria Rao was the associate medical examiner who conducted the autopsy of the victim Patricia Silvia. (XIII 1681) The victim suffered a wound to her head that was located behind her left ear. (XIII 1688) The victim Patricia Silvia's cause of death was shotgun pellet wounds to her head. (XIII 1698)

Sgt. Matthew Hardesty of the Seminole County Sheriff's office assisted the Maitland Police in the transport of the appellant after his arrest. (XIII 1719) Sgt. Hardesty placed the appellant in his patrol vehicle and transported the appellant to the Sheriff's Office for an interview. (XIII 1720) While being transported by Sgt. Hardesty, the appellant asked Sgt. Hardesty if he was married. (XIII 1723) Sgt. Hardesty replied that he was married. (XIII 1723) The appellant indicated that this was the reason that he was in this situation. (XIII 1723) The appellant stated that his wife had spent all of his money that the appellant had placed in a checking account with her name. (XIII 1723) The appellant's wife also began to redate her ex-husband. (XIII 1723) This is reason why he shot her. (XIII 1723)

PENALTY PHASE

Prior to the shootings, Beth Parker went into the house to use the bathroom. (XV 1941) Parker had a conversation with Patrick Woodward by the master bedroom door. (XV 1941) Everybody else was outside. (XV 1942) Betty Woodward came in the house and spoke to Patrick Woodward. (XV 1942) Parker heard the sound of "pop pop," and she followed Patrick Woodward outside the bedroom. (XV 1943) The three children were outside the bedroom door. (XV 1943) The three children had come from the carport area. (XV 1943)

⁸ This testimony is contrary to the testimony of Ross Sadron. Sadron

Patrick Woodward heard shooting and came to the kitchen and saw Patricia Sylvia lying in front of the refrigerator. (XV 1945) Woodward saw the appellant at the end of the carport with a shotgun in his hand. (XV 1945) Woodward stepped over Patricia Sylvia to shut the door, or Woodward would have had shots in his chest. (XV 1945) The appellant fired a shot at Woodward that was stopped by the door. (XV 1946)

DEFENSE CASE

The appellant was the oldest of three children. (XV 1977) The appellant was born in Washington DC, but soon thereafter moved with his family to College Park, Georgia. (XV 1978) During the next eight years in Georgia, the relationship of the appellant's parents was very volatile. (XV 1979) The parents would have both verbal and physical fights. (XV 1979) The appellant would hear and see these fights. (XV 1979) During one incident, the appellant came out of his room and told his parents to stop it. (XV 1980) The parents would ultimately divorce. (XV 1980)

The appellant's parents subsequently remarried, and tried a new start in Altamonte Springs, Florida. (XV 1979) The appellant's parents divorced again in

testified that he was in the house watching television at this time.

⁹ At trial Woodward testified that he saw the appellant standing at the end of the carport looking at Woodward holding the twelve gauge shot gun. (VI 1193) The appellant pointed the shotgun at Woodward and pumped the shotgun. (VI 1196) Woodward then shut the door. (VI 1197) Woodward did not hear any

Florida, and the appellant's mother was killed by a drunk driver in 1999. (XV 1981) The appellant's younger brother John died in 2001 of natural causes related to drug abuse. (XV 1982) The appellant ran away from home on three occasions as a teenager. (XV 1983) On two occasions, the appellant ran away to Venice, California. (XV 1983) During the third episode, the appellant attempted to rob a bank with his brother John. (XV 1983) The appellant was arrested and subsequently spent time in the Florida Hospital psychiatric unit. (XV 1984)

The appellant played little league baseball, and was on a swim team. (XV 1984) The appellant was quiet and a loner with few friends. (XV 1985) The appellant spent a great deal of time in his bedroom alone playing Dungeons and Dragons. (XV 1985) The appellant's sister was classified as being "bipolar" and was placed in a psychiatric ward after the death of her mother. (XV 1986) The appellant's mother remarried and was in business with her new husband. (XV 1987) The appellant and his brother John both worked in their mother's business. (XV 1987) The appellant lost his mother and his job when she was killed. (XV 1987)

Dr. Deborah Day is a licensed psychologist practicing forensic psychology, and she performed an evaluation upon the request of defense counsel. (XV 1994,

further shots after he closed the door. (VII 1207)

1999) Dr. Day visited the appellant on five separate occasions, and spent eight hours interviewing the appellant. (XV 2000) Dr. Melissa Fogle, a neuropsychologist, also performed an evaluation of the appellant related to concerns based upon the history of head injury and trauma suffered by the appellant. (XV 2000) When the appellant was an adolescent he was institutionalized for two months, and was diagnosed with a schizophrenia form disorder and recommended for inpatient treatment, and then subsequent outpatient treatment. (XV 2004)

The appellant's father was abusive to his mother. (XV 2005) At one point the abuse was turned on the appellant when he first tried to protect his mother. (XV 2006) The appellant's father then became physically and emotionally abusive to the appellant. (XV 2006) The appellant became estranged from his father and emotionally dependant on his mother. (XV 2008) The appellant also began self-medicating by drinking alcohol and smoking marijuana. (XV 2008) The appellant eventually became alcohol dependent in his 20s. (XV 2008) The appellant's first wife Wendy was also an alcohol and drug abuser, and their relationship centered around substance abuse. (XV 2009) The appellant left his first wife after having an affair with the victim Patricia Sylvia. (XV 2009) The appellant suffered from significant anxiety during his first marriage, and saw a psychiatrist for six months

and was placed on medication. (XV 2009)

The appellant's family has a history of substance abuse and mental illness. (XV 2010) The appellant's brother was a substance abuser, the appellant's sister has a bipolar disorder and has had psychiatric hospitalization. (XV 2010) The appellant's paternal grandfather shot and killed himself, and the appellant's paternal uncle suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder from service in the Vietnam War. (XV 2010)

The appellant was drinking excessively when he began an affair with Patricia Sylvia. (XV 2011) The couple both continued to abuse alcohol after their marriage. (XV 2011) During the first three years of their marriage, the appellant and Patricia Sylvia lived on monies obtained from his mother's estate. (XV 2012)

The appellant suffer from bouts of paranoia. (XV 2014) He believes that people are watching him. (XV 2014) There were times that he thought planes and satellites were spying on him. (XV 2015) The appellant came to believe that his wife Patricia Sylvia was having sexual relations with her two older sons. (XV 2015) The appellant stated that the sons would sit too close to their mother, and that Patricia Sylvia would stare at her son's crotch. (XV 2015) The appellant confronted Patricia Sylvia and his step-children about his suspicions, and this was the reason that she left him. (XV 2016) The appellant routinely drank a case of

beer a day, and prior to the shooting of Patricia Sylvia he had drank a six pack of beer. (XV 2018)

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