#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### **CASE NO. SC09-220**

#### WILLIAM FRANCES SILVIA

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

\_\_\_\_\_

# ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS Fla. Bar No. 410519 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

**COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT** 

# **

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

Owen v. State, 862 So. 2d 687, 701-702 (Fla. 2003).

In *Evans v. State*, 800 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 2001), the defendant raised the argument now raised by Appellant, and this Court held:

The fact that the trial court recognized and gave substantial weight to the mental mitigator does not necessarily mean that the murder was an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage, as Evans argues here. A defendant can be emotionally and mentally disturbed or suffer from a mental illness but still have the ability to experience cool and calm reflection, make a careful plan or prearranged design to commit murder, and exhibit heightened premeditation. See Sexton v. State, 775 So. 2d 923, 934 (Fla. 2000) (evidence established heightened premeditation, lengthy and careful planning and prearrangement, and an execution-style killing to support CCP aggravator despite "great weight" given to the defendant's mental impairment). While the events leading up to the murder may have made Evans emotionally charged, his actions do not suggest a frenzied, spur-of-the-moment attack. The evidence in this case supports the trial court's findings; therefore, the trial court did not err in finding CCP.

*Evans v. State*, 800 So. 2d 182, 193 (Fla. 2001). *Owens* and *Evans* directly contradict Appellant's theory regarding CCP versus the mental health mitigators.

Appellant attempts to distinguish *Buzia v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1023 (Fla. 2006); however, *Buzia* supports the State's position that Silvia easily could have left the scene rather than retrieving his shotgun from the truck and shooting two innocent victims. He could have left after the first, second, third or fourth shot. Or even the fifth. But, he consciously chose to continue pumping another shell into the chamber and shooting or threatening to shoot, anyone who came between him and Patricia.

Even if this Court struck this aggravating circumstance, any error was harmless. When this Court strikes an aggravating factor on appeal, "the harmless error test is applied to determine whether there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the sentence." *Jennings v. State*, 782 So.2d 853, 863 n. 9 (Fla.2001); *see also Douglas v. State*, 878 So.2d 1246, 1268 (Fla.2004) ("Striking [an] aggravator necessitates a harmless error analysis."). *See also Hill v. State*, 643 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla.1994) ("When this court strikes one or more aggravating circumstances relied upon by a trial judge in sentencing a defendant to death, we may conduct a harmless error analysis based on what the sentencer actually found in determining whether the sentence of death is still appropriate.") *Diaz v. State*, 860 So. 2d 960, 968 (Fla. 2003)(harmless error found after court struck HAC).

## **POINT II**

# THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE "GREAT RISK OF DEATH."

Appellant claims that the trial judge improperly found, as a statutory aggravator, that he created a great risk of death to many people. In the sentencing order, the trial judge wrote:

To support a finding of this aggravator, the State must prove that the Defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons. In

Johnson v. State, 696 So.2d 326, (Fla. 1997), the Florida Supreme Court established that "many persons" means four or more persons, other than the victim.

On the evening of September 22, 2006, at approximately 9:20 p.m., the Woodard family was having a cookout at their home located at 2536 Zelina Point, Seminole County, Florida. The Woodard home is owned by Patrick and Betty Woodard, Patricia Silvia's step-father and mother. In addition to Patrick and Betty Woodard, Patricia Silvia and her minor children, Ross Shadron and Rachel Shadron, were present at the cookout. Also present at the cookout were Jerome Woodard, Patrick Woodard's brother; Robin Mcintyre, Patricia Silvia's sister who suffers from Down Syndrome; and Beth Parker and Doug Caldwell, family friends. Not counting the murder victim, the evidence is sufficient to establish that Betty Woodard, Patrick Woodard, Ross Shadron, Rachel Shadron, Jerome Woodard and Robin McIntyre were knowingly put in great risk of death by the Defendant.

Betty Woodard was in great risk of death when the Defendant shot her in the face. On the evening of the family cookout, Betty Woodard was sitting in her carport and talking with Patricia Silvia, her daughter, Rachel Shadron, her granddaughter, and Jerome Woodard, her brother-in-law. The Defendant showed up that evening and spoke briefly with Patricia. He then turned around and walked away. Betty Woodard thought he had left. Both she and Patricia then went inside the house.

Betty Woodard told her husband that the Defendant was at their house. She was inside the home when she thought she heard firecrackers. At that time, Patricia Woodard was in the kitchen getting ice tea out of the refrigerator. As Betty walked past Patricia, she asked Patricia if she was okay and if she was coming back outside. Patricia told her mother that she would be back outside in a minute. Betty Woodard opened the door to the carport and saw a flash of light. She fell forward into the carport and woke up lying in a pool of blood. Three shotgun pellets were later removed from her left eye. The Defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to Betty Woodard.

Patrick Woodard was put in great risk of death by the Defendant. On the evening of the cookout, Patrick Woodard was in the master bedroom talking with Beth Parker when his wife came to the master bedroom door and told him the Defendant was at their home. Betty asked him to come outside. Patrick Woodard continued talking with Beth Parker until he heard gunshots. Later it was discovered that one of the shotgun pellets went through the kitchen wall into the master bedroom.

By the time Patrick Woodard entered the kitchen, he saw Patricia Silvia lying on the kitchen floor in front of the refrigerator. Then, looking through the open carport door, he saw his wife lying on the ground in the carport bleeding. While looking into the carport, Patrick Woodard saw the Defendant looking directly at him. He then saw the Defendant pump his shotgun and point the shotgun at him to shoot him in his chest. Patrick Woodard stepped over Patricia Silvia and shut the door to the carport so he would not be shot in the chest.

Patrick Woodard held the carport door closed, waited for the Defendant to leave and then opened the carport door to attend to his wife. After all the shooting, the carport door, which was solid wood, had both buck shot and bird shot in it. The Defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to Patrick Woodard.

Ross Shadron was put in great risk of death by the Defendant. Ross Shadron, Patricia Silvia's son, was twelve years old at the time of the family gathering. He was inside the home watching television when he heard gunshots. He ran towards the carport door. He saw smoke everywhere. He was looking for his sister, Rachel. He saw his mother standing beside him and saw her fall in front of him. Ross Shadron was standing close to his mother when she was shot. The shotgun pellets that hit his Mother and the refrigerator and kitchen cabinets could have killed Ross Shadron. The Defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to Ross Shadron.

Rachel Shadron was put in great risk of death by the Defendant. Rachel Shadron, Patricia Silvia's daughter, was fifteen years old at the time of the family gathering. She was in the carport with her mother, her grandmother, her aunt Robin Mcintyre, Jerome Woodard, and Doug Caldwell when the Defendant arrived at the Woodard home.

Betty Woodward was sitting next to Patricia Silvia when the Defendant walked up to the carport. He stood there for a moment, then Rachel asked him what he wanted. The Defendant said that he needed to speak with her mother. Patricia Silvia walked out to the edge of the carport to where the Defendant was standing and spoke with him briefly, then she returned to the carport. As Patricia was walking away from the Defendant, Rachel Shadron heard the Defendant tell her mother that she would be sorry. The Defendant then walked away from the Woodward's home toward the street. He had parked his truck at the end of the street.

Rachel was talking in the carport and did not notice the Defendant again until she heard gun shots. She looked to see what was happening and saw the Defendant standing at the edge of the carport and pointing his shotgun at her. The shotgun was approximately one foot away from her. Suddenly, she was pushed down from behind and fell onto the carport floor. She then crawled inside the house to find her brother. As she was crawling through the carport door into the house, and heading for the bathroom, she continued to hear gunshots. As she crawled through the kitchen, she saw her mother on the floor in front of the refrigerator and her grandfather holding the carport door shut. The Defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to Rachel Shadron.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rachel Shadron thought it was her mother behind her who pushed her down but she did not testify that she actually saw who pushed her to the ground. The evidence in the case establishes that Patricia Silvia was in the kitchen when the Defendant was in the carport shooting. While Patricia Silvia could not have been the person who pushed Rachel to the ground, the court finds that someone in the carport pushed Rachel to the ground when the Defendant pointed his shotgun at her. Obviously, when the Defendant was in the carport shooting, chaos occurred.

Jerome Woodard was in great risk of death when he was standing at the edge of the Woodard's carport and the Defendant began firing his shotgun. The Woodard's carport is a one car carport. He hit the ground as the Defendant fired his second shot and did not get up because he feared for his life. The crime scene drawing and photos show pellets struck the front of the Ford Contour he had hid behind and the carport column near him. He was lying on the floor of the carport between the front and rear tires of the Ford Contour as the Defendant continued to shoot. Jerome Woodard heard seven shots in total and saw the Defendant walk away before he got up. The Defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to Jerome Woodard.

Robin McIntyre was in great risk of death as she was also in the carport when the shooting started. After the shooting started but before Patrick Woodard shut the carport door, she entered the home through the carport door. Robin McIntyre suffers from Down Syndrome and did not testify. The Defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to Robin Mcintyre.

The physical evidence, photographs and testimony of crime scene technicians establish the Defendant fired seven shots from a 12 gauge shotgun at the Woodard's home on September 22, 2006. The shots impacted areas on the left front quarter panel of the Ford Contour in the driveway, the carport column on the other side of the Ford, the carport door leading into the kitchen, the refrigerator and cabinets in the kitchen, and the master bedroom wall.

This aggravating factor has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt and is given great weight by the court.

(V3, P567-571).

These findings are supported by substantial competent evidence.

Betty Woodard opened the door to the carport and saw only "flash of light." The next thing Betty remembered was waking up in a pool of blood. (V10, T1065).

Patrick Woodard saw Appellant standing at the end of the carport. (V10, T1193). Appellant pumped the shotgun and aimed it at Patrick. (V10, T1196). Patrick stepped over Patricia's body and shut the door. (V10, T1197). Appellant shot at the door. (V10, T1198).

When the shooting started, Ross Shadron ran toward the door near the carport. Everybody was "just running in" through the open door. (V10, 1153). Ross was standing next to his mother as the others ran inside the house. (V10, R1139). Appellant shot at the door. Patricia Silvia fell in front of Ross. (V10, T1139, 1146).

Rachel Shadron was in the carport when she heard gunshots. She stood up to get Ross. (V10, T1156, 1158). Appellant was standing less than a foot away from Rachel when he pointed the shotgun at her. (V10, 1171).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> As a result of being shot, Betty Woodard's jaw was shattered and her left eye was removed. She lost the entire left side of her face and no longer has a sense of smell. Nerve damaged affects the use of her left arm. (V10, T1070, 1072).

Jerome Woodard was in the carport when he saw Appellant "walking up." (V10, T1113, 1119-20, 1130). Jerome "saw a muzzle flash and heard a shot." Then, "another shot rung off." Jerome dropped to the ground and hid between two vehicles. (V10, T1113, 1114, 1121). There was birdshot in the car behind which Jerome hid and in a pillar near him. (V11, T1352; State Exhibits #2-4 at V2, P267-69 and State Exhibit #30 at V2, P294)

Robin McIntyre, Patricia Silvia's sister who had Down Syndrome, lived with the Woodards. (V10, T1056-57, 1183). Robin McIntyre was in the carport when the shooting started. (V10, T1063). Robin ran in the house through the open carport door before Partrick Woodard closed it. (V10, T1138-39, 1153).

This Court's review of a trial court's finding regarding an aggravator is limited to whether the trial court applies the correct law and whether its finding is supported by competent, substantial evidence. *Willacy v. State*, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla. 1997); see also *Cave v. State*, 727 So. 2d 227, 230 (Fla. 1998).

In *Johnson v. State*, 696 So. 2d 326, 334 (Fla. 1997), this Court explained:

As his final issue, Johnson claims that the trial judge improperly found, as a statutory aggravator, that Johnson created a great risk of death to many people. In his sentencing order, the trial judge wrote:

Four people, plus Tequila Larkins, were in the laundromat when the Defendant broke in and began shooting. People were forced to hit the floor and take whatever cover was available. Sixteen bullet fragments were later found in the laundromat. In his confession, the Defendant admitted that he was at one point trying to shoot his way out. At least one witness stated that he could feel shots hitting near his feet as he lay crouched on the floor. Unquestionably, the Defendant created a great risk of death to many persons.

After reviewing the record, we agree that it supports this aggravator. Walter Hills, Eric Bettle, Jerry Briggs, and Valerie Briggs were all in immediate risk of death. Our case law supports the application of this aggravator in similar circumstances. *See Fitzpatrick v. State*, 437 So.2d 1072, 1077 (Fla.1983) (holding a great risk of death to many was demonstrated where defendant shot at two nonvictims and held two other nonvictims at gunpoint), *habeas corpus granted on other grounds*, 490 So.2d 938 (Fla.1986).

Appellant's actions created a great risk of death to many persons. He approached the house in Rambo-like fashion, pumping shells into his shotgun as he got closer and closer. Pellets hit the car, different locations in the carport, and the carport door. Pellets were inside the house in the kitchen, dining room and bedroom. There were six unarmed, and innocent people in the carport when appellant approached, shooting and pointing the shotgun at people. Jerome ducked behind the Ford and the others took refuge in the house. Pointing a weapon at people and shooting seven shots in a confined area certainly created a "likelihood" or "high probability" that the Woodard family and their guests would be hit and killed. *See Raulerson v. State*, 420 So. 2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1982); *See also, Trepal v. State*, 621 So. 2d 1361, 1367 (Fla. 1993) (Cola laced with Thallium); *Way v. State*,

496 So. 2d 126, 128 (Fla. 1986) (arson endangered child playing in house and firefighters responding to scene).

Error, if any, was harmless. When this Court strikes an aggravating factor on appeal, "the harmless error test is applied to determine whether there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the sentence." *Jennings v. State*, 782 So.2d 853, 863 n. 9 (Fla.2001); *see also Douglas v. State*, 878 So.2d 1246, 1268 (Fla.2004) ("Striking [an] aggravator necessitates a harmless error analysis."). *See also Hill v. State*, 643 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla.1994) ("When this court strikes one or more aggravating circumstances relied upon by a trial judge in sentencing a defendant to death, we may conduct a harmless error analysis based on what the sentencer actually found in determining whether the sentence of death is still appropriate.") *Diaz v. State*, 860 So. 2d 960, 968 (Fla. 2003)(harmless error found after court struck HAC).

# **POINT III**

# THIS CASE IS PROPORTIONAL TO OTHER DEATH-SENTENCED DEFENDANTS; THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF GUILT.

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